W5 Farm 10 300 i ’ OMB Mo 1024 -001a
L3 B8 - Exp. 10-31-584

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received -
Inventory—Nomination Form date entered

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries-——complete applicabie sections

1. Name

histaric Jennie Foley Building

and or common  Jenuic Foley-victor A. Arrigo Building

2. Location

H2A=-28 Sonth Raclne Avenue

street & numper R eBRTAO OHLIL RAL LI OMERHE not for publication
(01 address:  201-03 Center Avenue T o
city, town CHICAGO vicinity of
state [llinois code county code
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
district public 4 pocoupied agriculture . MUSEUmM
X puilding(s) ¥ private unoccuped ¥  commercial park
stricture both work in progress educational X private residence
site Public Acquisilion Accessible entertainment religious
object in process % yes: restricted government scientific
being considered yes: unrestricted industrial —..— transportation
no military _other:

4. Owner of Property

name Mr. Rico Paone i
street & number 1945 North Olark Strect, Number 707
City. 1owWn Chicage vicinity of state Illinois 606014

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds. etc. Cook County Recorder of Deeds

street & number 118 MorLth Clark Streer

Chicago T1linels 60602

city. town state
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
Illinaois Hisloric Sites
iitie Survey, 2nd has this property been determined efigible? yes ne
date L1971 tederai X state county tocat

Departmant ol conservallon
depcaitory tor survey records P

city, town Springfield state 1111inovis



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
- excellent deteriorated unaltered original site
qood ruins altered moved date
fair unexposed

Describe the present and originai {if known) physical appearance

The Foley-Arrigo DBuilding, huilt in 1889 for §11,000 by Jennie Folev,
is a detached brick, "double" siructure, each four story entity reflecting
the interior conlipuration of the other. With a high degree of integrily,
it occupies the northwest corner site of Racine Avenue and Flournoy Street
on Chicago's Near West Side. The building is compatible with what remains
of nearby one, two and three story period structures in seale, massing and
detail, vet Is distinguished by its height. If viewed from some distant
perspective, it is similar in height to the Mother Cabrini Hospital, the Our
Lady of Pampeil Churel and totre NDame Charch within sight of the Faley-
Arrigo Building lo the south, southwest and west, rcspectively. Tt should
he noted that the KolevArrigo Building faces across Racine Avenue toward the
University of [llinois at Chicago campus where once stood a ninetsenth
century hailt community much like the west side of Racine Avenua,

The two primary facades, flacing east (Ragine Avenue) and  south
{Flournoy Street), are of finished red face brick. Eclectic architectural
detail materials include sandslone, terra cotta, stained glass, galvanized
metal and casl iron- The flat roof is crowned by a deep hracketed cornice
of yalvanized sheet metal with patterned scroll work and dentils. On  the
east facade, two metal-clad hays rise from the seeond slory tn the cornice.
At each level, the bays are cnhaneed by helt courses, dentils, Corinthian

columns and panels of seroll work. The bay center window is a fixed pane
with transom; each side window is a one over onc double hung with transom of
hrilliant stained glass. At the hase of each bay arc recessed panels with

medallions. Retween the bavs are one over one double hung windows.,  The
upper sash center pane is surrounded by gmall colored panes.

A contlinuens sandstone sill joins the windows of floors two, three and
four, and a helt course separates cach floor. High relicf terra cotta with
central figure heads and seroll work is placed to the right and left ol the
center  easl facade betwecen floors. Two single exterior doors ‘'nark the
puilding's  center, bul  separate ecntrances (o the wupper floor apartment
units, three per side. Transoms of colored glass surrounding clear plass
panels appear shove the doors.

The south elevation is again red face brick. The spatial divisions of
this facade uare essentially two. The western half, marked bv groups of
three unadorncd one over one double hnng windows per floor, is divided from
the almost uninterrupted eastern half oy a three storv bay, a replication of
the cast facade havs. Corheled briekwork appears on the unfenestrated
soulheast section.

The street level commercial treatment is  almost  totally intact. The

north storefront has a cast iron recessed entrance and lentels. There are
large plate glass windows supported by the cast iron with transoms above.

Continued . .



NPS Form 10-300-a wioTo, loLd- 0
3821 o . T

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Page

Continuation sheet Itermn number

Therc bas been an intrusive modernization of the south storefront  with
bricking in the window psanels and alteration of windows and entrance. How-
ever, the corner cutback and cast iron support pillar remain.

The west and north facades are common brick. The windows are wooden
douhle hunp, and the masonry openings have sandstone sills.  Weoden soervice
porches run the full length of the west facade.

The six residential apartment interiors arc characterized by  marble
fireplaces, large oak paneled pocket doors, intricate stained glass transoms
and varnished oal woodwork.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
prehistoric archeology prehistoric community planhing landscape architecture retigion
1400 1499 archeology-tistornc conservation law science
156001559 ayriculture enoNOmMIcs hteralure sculpture
1600-1699 architecture education military social
1700--1799 art engneearing musIc humanitarian
18001899 cammerce exploratign settlement philosophy theatar
1500— communications ndustry pohtics government transportation
invention other (specify}
Specitic dates Builder Architect

Statement of Significance {in one paragraph])
STTMMA }_?Y

Three areas of significance, architecture, commerce, and  polities/
povernment, can he attributed to the Foley-Arrigo Building.

Architecturally, it meets Criteria C, "...2 building...that embod{ics)
the distinctive characteristics of a type, period....” The four story
commercial/ residential - structure  maintains  its  integrity and is a noftablc
example of a distinet nineteenth century Chicage architectural type, onc of
12 identificd by 1he Chicago Commission on  llistorical and Architectural

Landmarks. Because of its height, it is an identifving featurc sited on a
major north/south thoroughfare (Racine Avenue), yel it marks the entrance to
a charming, intact nineteenth century residential cnclave to the west. In

this Neur West Side community where urban renewal and disinvestment have
taken their toll, few like structures still exist, especially with such
minimal altcrations, The slorefront spaces have served the commerecial and
present community organization needs of the adjacent ncighborhood through
thie years. The building has been significant in  the context of the
commercial/residential  distriet  as  well, In addition, it has been associ-
atad with the Italian-American Arrigo family since 1610, Vietor A, Arrigo
lived in the house from 1910 until his death in 1873. Representative Arrigo
sepved the 20th Illinois Mistriet in the State Legislature and was noted for
his contributions to anti-diserimination legislation.

JUSTIVICATION

Architectural

The Foley-Arrigo Building is charactaristic of  the commercial/
residential building type developed prior to the turn of the century to
utilize the modern producls and building technologics of the period,

Beginning in the 1970's in Chicago and elsewhere, commercial ground
floor fronts were distinguished hy the inclusion of large display windows.
More display space was possible hecause of advances in standardization of
cast iron fronts to support the expanse of plate glass. 1 From the simple,
functional fiothic to the ornate Ilalisnate and Gueen Anne designs, the
innovative stlorefronts emitted light and air (through transoms) into shops.
Characteristic  building  materials ranged  from  briek, brick  face  with

Ivara  Gelbloom, "Old  Storefronts, 1R70-1920", The 0Old  touse Journal.
Vol. VI, No. 3, March, 1978, pp. 25 34,

Continued
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sandstone, to other more eoxpensive fireproofl masonry materials, required hy

the Chicago building code following the Chiecago Fire of 1871. Decorative
terra cotta, cast, wrought or galvanized iron was added to enhance oriel
hays, cornices, window sills and lentels. There was cither a ceonter flush

or recessced entrance flanked hy shop windows, or a =ide or corner entrance
often with cast iron pillar supports for the corner.

The Foleyv-Arrigo Duilding retains the structure, massing and detail of
this huilding type as described in  Seetion 7. Alost notably, the mostly
intact staorefronts express the houman seale commeree and street level inter-
action so characteristic of the poriod.

According o huilding permits noted in the trade journsl Sanitary News
in 1889, the Foley-Arrige PRuilding  was one of a number of similarly
desceribed buoildings on Pacine Avenue or Center Avenne.? Four astorv
store/[lals were bullt at 1) Harrison and Center (8/29/89); 2) 73 C(Center
Avenue (6/29/89):; 3) 157 Center Avenuve (8/20/8%); 4) Center near Tavlor
(8710/89); 5) 149 Center Avenue (8/10/89).  0Of these, only the Folev-Arrigo
Mnilding survives in this immediate aren.

Commerce

Farly in Chicago's development, the Illinoizs-Michigan Canal hrought
commerce and indostey to the prairie eitv. land adjacent to the canal was
sold to pay for its construction. ‘The Neer West Side was canal land sold to
entreprencurs  and  industrislists whe brought prosperity to  Investors and
congestion and poverty to the working class on the West Side.

In 1889, the vear the Foleyv-Arrigo Building was constructled, June
Addams estahlished Hull House Seottlement House on Halsted Street, just threo
bloeks to the east. Hull Touse was in the heart of the port-of-entryv tene-

ment immigrant districetl. Successive waves of  [rish, Germen, Tlalian,
Polish, Russian Jew and Greck immigrants worked in the West Side manufac-
turing and industreial  plants. Congested conditions were the noerm east of
Racine Avenuc. Ag economic econditions improved, individuals moved to the

Racine Area, thus the more middle class housing stock [rom Racine to Ashland
Avenuc.

According 1o one long  time resident, Racine Avenne wag Jined with
familv-owned  businesses as  well as  larger manufacturing and  serviee

2.‘a\anitsr_\f Mews, June 20, 1880; Augnst 10, 1889,

Continued . .
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t'znter‘pI‘ises.:i In the twentielh century, the arca dominated by the Folev-
Arrige Building was the nuecleus of the Sieilian community. Racine was a

heavily travelled street where horsce-drawn wagons carried produce to and
from the South Water Market (Racine and 15th Street) to the Fulton Market.
Many residents were cmploved in Lhe prodnce trades, including members of the
Arrigo family.

The stores and  adjnining  residential  units  were the businesses  and
homes for Furopesn immiprantz in Chicago before and after 1900, The tamily
shop--a grocery store, a laundryv, a candy store- -was located on  the tirst
floor, while living accommodations and rental flats, if the buoildings were
large enough, sapneared above the store. The neighborhood commereial strip
was the cconeomie and social center for the immigrant group.

The Arrigo familvy utilized  the Foleyv-Arrigo Ruilding as  rental and
commercial space. One familv memher ran an ice cream/soda shop in the north
shop.  Other nses for the north storefront were gandwich shop, shoc shop and
coffee store. The corner storelront has been used as a seale companv, A
cleaning shop, a candy store, a bhutcher shop, a grocery store and, in recent
veurs, as a hasc for neighborhood services and organizing.

Polities/Government

Sinee the late nineteenth  centurv, there has been a  large  Ttalian
population on lhe MNear West side,? The community is known generally uas
"Little  Italy" even loday, although the gpeneral population  has  shrunk
heeause of  relocation  and  major  displacement in  the aftermath of the
construction of the Upiversity of Mlincis at Chicago.

Victor A. Arrigo, bhorn in Siecily of Awmericar eltizens, was a politician
elosely  linked tn the Mear West Side [talian-American community from 1908
until his death in 1873, Fapr R of those years he lived in the Folev-Arrigo
Puilding which his parents purchased in 1910,

Vietor Arrigo was a lawver who served the 20th [linpis  lLegislative
Nistrict in the 75th., 76th, 77th and 78th (enersl Assemblies, Represenla-
tive Arrigo was best known for sponsoring anti-diserimination Ingisjation.
He received numerous community awards, the most notable heing the posthvmouvs

RIHTHI"'ViE'{W, Fmil Pelusn, Movember 14, 1984,

Aflumbert §. Melli, Ttalians in Chieago, pp. 32-33.

Continued . .
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rcnaming of Vernon Park, just two blocks froim the Folev-Arrigo Building, to
Arrigo Park.



9. Major Bibliographical References

SEE CONTINUATTON SHEET.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property Luss than L/3 acre
Quadrangle name bnglewood Quadrangle scale 1:24000
UTM References

loel lalaslapol ltelbslzeg) Bi_-;J AN AR I B A A
Zone  Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing
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Verbal boundary description and justification

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name title Linda 8. wvon Dreale (utitizing some information {rom Anthony Stepheng)
Kalhalie P. Voorhees Center for
organization Neigh./Comn. Improvewment, UTC date January 11, 19485
gireet & number Box 4348 telephone (3)].2) 99h=-hh7l
Chicago ctate [T1inois 60680

city or town

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

national siate local

As the designated Stete Historic Preservation Otficer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 {Public Law 8%
665). | hereby nominaie this property tor inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by t ational Park Seryice.
State Historic Preservation Qfficer signature 6 ]

title.DERUEY £5, HL P..O . date E;/ﬂ/[/gg

For NPS use only
i hereby certity that this property is inciuded in the Nationat Register

date

Ke;éper of the National Register

Attest: e date
Chief of Registration

WP BUa-TAS
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32 TTALLANS IN CHICAGH, 1BBo-1gae

M T WD Prpanst ey

E' -“_-j Area rzamines 0 1967 ity Homees Assodiabon Regacrt

5 Near West Side Itahan Tustnet, 1598 and 1601

Based op City of Clucags, Baurd of Election Commissioners, Nincteenth
Ward, Elsction Preciwets for 38g5, and Rabert Hunter (for the City Homes
Assrmation ), Tencusd Conditwns in Chicage (Chicago, 1901}, 12-13, 55~
sE

description distarted the actual situstion; for althvugh Italians rep-
rusuut;?d a majonity of residents i part of the area surveyed by
th. Association, they formed a minority element elsewhere. Fur-
thermare, in not vne block of the entire area did halians compnse
the only cthuic group t?

The Neur West Side contained some of the worst housing in the
citv. Stuctures facing the street {(most of them brick and three
stf,ulrit-s Ligh! were unsoundly constructed, inadequately lLighted,
pooriy ventilated and dangernusly overcrowded. Owners and man-

agers utiliced all avaidable space for bviug purposes. Each Hoor

Table 2

WEAR WEST EIDFE ITALTAN DISTRICY PCFULATION IN 1808, BY PRECINCT

'

sor- frah Tuts!
b 2 A 0, AMmEriesn
Tos : T H : Lo.rr Pricoipa! Non-linlar Groaps

1 374 864 %] 784 Irish, German

) 1 5 207 6150 205 €05 Irist, Gernan

H 1 P 44 EEX] Eeh 454 Irich, Georman

14 1 H ury G 357 53 Irind, Hussing

1k e G A e L 637 Irigh, Chirnen, Carock

H Tl 1% BT a0 oLz HST Irab, Grernen

17 R fiid 175 221 iuld 835 lrish, German

1% T 432 152 180 a12 605 Trisk:, Gerirnan, Greek

1 54 365 avy 675 any 910 Germun, Hogddarn, Irigh
P48 a2 AL G 671 Bisi 01 Irsh ltwssisn, German

e 124 15U 515 Juus biy 1155 Polish, ltussian, (ernan

G g 3 1263 1uid 1200 10647 Doheiminn, Pubish, Gerwean, Ruasian
di 3] HH 101 1Y Y [iBh Bohemian, Russian, Pohsty, Gerinen
34 2452 12 754 Bit Bl 100K Russginn, Germnn, Irish

33 - - 12 0494 891 R 06 Hussinn, Bohetwan, German, Irish

Soawro s Uity of Cliavapn, Bourd ol Plavouon, Proccdiags, Jui, 13, 1598, o June 85, 1505 {Clicag,, 150495, 147 8.
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